
Corporate Parenting Panel

Date Friday 19 July 2019
Time 9.30 am
Venue Committee Room 1A, County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. 
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement

1. Apologies for Absence  
2. Substitute Members  
3. Minutes of the meeting held on 28 June 2019  (Pages 3 - 8)
4. Declarations of Interest  
5. Number of Looked After Children - Update from Strategic 

Manager  
6. Ofsted Updates  
7. Update from Investing in Children  
8. Corporate Parenting Annual Report 2018-19 - Report of 

Councillor P Brookes, Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel  
(Pages 9 - 32)
Theme: Foster Carers

9. Foster Care Update - Presentation by Strategic Manager      
(Pages 33 - 44)

10. Foster Care Discussion  (Pages 45 - 46)
11. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 

meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.  
12. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 

discussion of items containing exempt information.  



Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

13. Regulation 44 Visits: Summary Report - Joint Report of Head of 
Children's Social Care and Head of Early Help, Inclusion and 
Vulnerable Children  (Pages 47 - 86)

14. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
11 July 2019

To: The Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel

Councillor P Brookes (Chair)
Councillor H Smith (Vice-Chair)

Councillors B Bainbridge, H Bennett, J Carr, J Charlton, 
J Considine, P Crathorne, J Grant, I Jewell, P Jopling, 
M McKeon, L Maddison, J Makepeace, O Milburn, C Potts, 
A Reed, G Richardson, E Scott, M Simmons, C Wilson

Co-opted Members
C Baines
M Baister
N Harrison
K Myers
W Taylor
Young person representative of the Children in Care Council 

Contact: Jill Parker Tel: 03000 269 711



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL  
 

At a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Committee Room 2, 
County Hall, Durham on Friday 28 June 2019 at 9.30 am 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor P Brookes in the Chair 
 
Panel Members: 
Councillors J Carr, J Charlton, J Considine, J Grant, I Jewell, P Jopling, M 
McKeon,        L Maddison, J Makepeace, O Milburn, C Potts, A Reed, G 
Richardson, E Scott, M Simmons and H Smith. 
 
Co-Opted Members: 
M Baister and W Taylor  
 
Also in attendance: 
Kelsey Clayton – Legal Services Manager  
Rachel Harris – Service Improvement Manager (presenting item 12) 
Terry Irvine – Strategic Manager, Looked After Children and Resources  
Karen Robb – Strategic Manager, Looked After and Permanence   
Ellie Seed – Investing in Children 
Martyn Stenton – Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children  
Christine Stonehouse – Head of Virtual School  
Steven Tracey – Corporate Equality and Strategy Manager (presenting item 9) 
Jayne Watson – Senior Partnership Officer  
 
1. Apologies 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors  Bainbridge, Crathorne and 
Wilson, from co-opted member C Baines, and, from officers H Fergusson and  
S Morgans. 
 
2. Substitute Members  
 
No substitute members were in attendance. 
 
3. Minutes   
 
The minutes of the meeting held on Friday 26 April 2019 were agreed as a correct 
record. The following matters arising were reported:  
 

• The Commissioning Team is to recirculate the briefing note to outline 
members’ roles in respect of Regulation 44 visits.  Members’ profiles 
will be updated in order to include the information requested by young 
people.   

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



• Funding has now been allocated for the refurbishment of 
approximately 7 contact centres.  Members wishing to make a 
contribute to future refurbishments were asked to contact Jayne 
Watson, Senior Partnership Officer.  

 
4. Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest.  
 
5. Number of Looked After Children  
 
Karen Robb, Strategic Manager for Looked After and Permanence, informed the 
Panel that data cleansing as a result of the transfer of information to the new 
system had resulted in difficulties in obtaining accurate figures. The approximate 
number of looked after children as at 27 June was 870, however, the actual figure 
was likely to be lower than 870.  It is expected that accurate data will be available 
by the end of July.  The Panel noted that the Resource Panel is carrying out some 
tracking work on the last ten admissions into the looked after system.  
 
6. Ofsted Updates  
 
Karen Robb, Strategic Manager for Looked After and Permanence, updated the 
Panel on Ofsted visits.  Members wishing to view Ofsted reports were asked to 
contact the Strategic Manager for Looked After and Permanence who will provide 
links to the reports. 
 
The Panel agreed to consider the Care Leavers update as the next item of 
business. 
 
7. Care Leavers Update  
 
Karen Robb, Strategic Manager for Looked After and Permanence, introduced a 
report and delivered a presentation on the local offer for care leavers including 
information on statutory entitlements and discretionary support provided by the 
authority (for copy of report and presentation see file of minutes).   
 
The Panel noted that meetings are ongoing to discuss the possibility of extending 
Freedom Cards to over 18s and to improve the subsidised travel offer.  The 
Strategic Manager for Looked After and Permanence informed the Panel that 23 
care leavers are studying at university and the number of care leavers gaining 
apprenticeships with the Council continues to rise.  Work is being done with 
colleagues in Human Resources and Durham Works to increase training and 
employment opportunities.  The Chief Executive and Corporate Management 
team continue to support care leavers and a care leavers strategy report is to be 
considered by the Corporate Management Team in July. 
 
The Local Offer for Care Leavers is available on the Council’s website and the 
Children in Care Council website.  

Page 4



 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
8. Update from Investing in Children  
 
Ellie Seed provided the following update from Investing in Children:  
 

a) work has been done with the Children and Young People’s Service to 
provide a drop-in advice service directly before the CICC meetings; 

b) the recent recruitment drive has resulted in an increasing membership of 
the Children in Care Council and the group has now been split into two, 
more manageable sized groups, with one group consisting of young people 
aged 13 and under and the other group aged 14 plus with separate 
meetings now being held; 

c) young people have raised concerns regarding terminology used in literature 
designed specifically for children and young people which is negative and 
difficult for them to understand.   They have suggested new terms to be 
used for common phrases, for example, replacing ‘contact’ and ‘risk 
assessment’ with ‘family time’ and ‘safety plan’.  The Head of Early Help, 
Inclusion and Vulnerable Children informed the Panel that young people’s 
concerns have been shared, however, it will take time for the new 
terminology to be adopted by all teams.   The Panel suggested that this 
should be shared with schools and multi-agency groups. The Legal 
Manager emphasised that this terminology should only be used where 
appropriate adding that legal terminology must be used in court 
documentation; 

d) young people have been involved in producing videos with Independent 
Reviewing Officers and with the Children in Care Council on the subject of 
entering into care; 

e) a ‘Celebrate Me’ awards ceremony is to be held with the Looked After 
Teams  

f) Profile templates have been produced for foster carers and work is being 
done to design a profile template for Independent Reviewing Officers.  
Panel members were reminded to update their profile information which 
should be sent to Jayne Watson, Senior Partnership Officer, as soon as 
possible.  Members were asked to supply answers to the following four 
questions for their profile information:   

• What is your name and who are you?  Members are requested 
to provide a natural picture that captures who you are – not 
your Council profile picture 

• What area do you work in / which electoral division do you 
cover? 

• Why did you become a corporate parent / why do you want to 
support looked after young people? 

• What are your interests and hobbies?  

Page 5



g) Work is ongoing to refurbish contact centres. Panel members requested 
that officers investigate whether it would be possible for members to make a 
greater contribution to the project, collectively, through the Neighbourhood 
Budget.  

 
9. Quarter Four 2018/19 Performance   
 
Stephen Tracey, Corporate Equality and Strategy Manager introduced a report 
and delivered a presentation which provided an overview of performance for the 
final quarter of 2018/19 (for copy of report and presentation see file of minutes).   
 
The Panel commented as follows:  
 

a) that it would be useful to have a percentage breakdown to show the number 
of young people in short-term placements and the number in long-term 
placements;  

b) referring to the charts showing the characteristics of the cohort of children in 
care, it would be helpful to have figures for the previous two years, in order 
to identify any emerging trends;  

c) panel members commented on the figures for the provision of stable 
environments noting that some children are placed with foster carers for 
respite, and, on some occasions young people request temporary 
placement moves.  It was acknowledged that some placement moves result 
in positive outcomes, for example, to secure permanence through adoption;  

d) the Panel noted the figure for the number of foster carers approved and 
requested that information be provided on the number of carers leaving the 
service.  The Strategic Manager for Looked After Children and Resources 
responded that the Fostering Annual Report includes more detailed 
information on the retention of foster carers;   

e) concerns were raised regarding the number of health assessments not 
completed within 20 working days of the child becoming looked after.  The 
Corporate Equality and Strategy Manager responded that it is vital that 
consent for the health assessment to take place is received by health 
workers within 4 to 5 days in order for the 20 day deadline to be achieved.  
M Baister, Designated Nurse for Safeguarding and Looked After Children, 
added that when consent is received within a week of a child becoming 
looked after, approximately 90% of health assessments are completed 
within the deadline.  The Panel noted that a large number of health 
assessments are completed just outside of the deadline, within 25 days; 

f) the Panel requested further information with regard to social worker 
caseloads including whether senior members of staff have fewer cases and 
whether their cases are more complex;  

g) Referring to data for the 2017/18 academic year, the Panel noted the 
decline in  maths at Key Stage 1.  The Head of the Virtual School reassured 
the Panel that work is being undertaken to identify the most effective 
teaching methods and that the focus for the forthcoming academic year will 
be maths.  
 

Page 6



Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
10. Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2018-19  
  
The Chair of the Panel introduced the Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 
for 2018-19 (for copy see file).    
 
The Panel noted the young people’s comment that more work could be done to 
share positive stories about looked after children.  The Chair encouraged the 
Panel to be proactive in their role as corporate parents and he emphasised the 
importance of celebrating achievements.  The Panel agreed looked after children 
should be encouraged to strive to achieve success in the same way as all young 
people.   
  
11.  Aycliffe Secure Centre Governance Arrangements  
  
The Panel considered a report of Martyn Stenton, Head of Early Help, Inclusion 
and Vulnerable Children which outlined the Aycliffe Secure Centre Sub Group 
governance arrangements (for copy see file of minutes). 
  
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendation in the report be agreed. 
 
12. Digital Voice Project   
 
Rachel Harris, Service Improvement Manager, introduced the Digital Voice project 
and explained that the project has produced video profiles of children in care, 
using media and animation which enables the young people to speak honestly 
and openly about themselves and their experiences, whilst remaining anonymous.  
The Panel received four Digital Me videos profiling children in care and the final 
Digital Voice video provided a summary of key messages for social workers from 
the young people. 
 
The videos were very well received and the Panel commented on the powerful 
and moving messages. The Service Improvement Manager stated that further 
projects are being considered, for example, with adopted children, those with 
mental health issues and young people who have experienced sexual exploitation.  
Consideration is also being given as to whether similar media profiles could be 
produced in-house with mapping work being undertaken with Investing in 
Children.   
 
Members observed that several of the key messages in the Digital Me videos 
echoed the messages identified in the Children and Young People’s Overview and 
Scrutiny review into the role of the social worker from a child’s perspective, for 
example, the importance of stability, trust and honesty.   

Page 7



 
13. Exclusion of the public  
 
Resolved: 
 
That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely discussion of exempt information as defined in paragraph 1 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 
14. Regulation 44 Visits: Summary Report  
 
The Panel considered the monthly update on Regulation 44 visits and outstanding 
responsive repairs (for copy of report see file of minutes).    
 
The Senior Partnerships Officer informed the Panel a request has been made for 
members to receive the full Regulation 44 reports, on a monthly basis.   
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be received. 

Page 8



             

      
 Corporate Parenting Panel 
   
 19 July 2019 

 

Corporate Parenting Panel Annual 
Report 2018-19 
 

Report of Cllr Peter Brookes, Chair of the Corporate Parenting 
Panel, Durham County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to present the Corporate Parenting Panel 
Annual Report April 2018 – March 2019, for agreement.   

2 The Annual Report is attached as Appendix 2 of this report. 

Executive summary 

3 Following an inspection of Durham County Council’s Children’s 
Services by Ofsted in February/March 2016 the service was judged as 
requiring improvement.  Since this judgement the service has carried 
out work to address Ofsted’s recommendations and with the Council’s 
Transformation Agenda has made significant improvements in relation 
to political oversight of Children’s Services including the revised terms 
of reference of the Corporate Parenting Panel. 

4 The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference form part of 
Durham County Council’s constitution and make specific reference that 
the Corporate Parenting Panel will prepare and provide an annual 
report that will be shared with Council, Cabinet and Scrutiny.   

5 This is the second Annual Report of the Corporate Parenting Panel, 
following the changes to political oversight. 

Recommendations  

6 The Corporate Parenting Panel are recommended to agree the 
Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report at the meeting on 19 July 
2019. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 8



Background 

7 In March 2016, Durham County Council’s Children’s Services were 
inspected by OFSTED who found that services required improvement. 
Their report made fourteen recommendations including: “Review 
existing arrangements to ensure that political and senior leaders have 
access to improved quantitative and qualitative performance information 
that enables them to have an accurate picture of the current practice 
delivered to children, so that they can develop strategies to maintain 
and improve the quality of front-line practice.”  

8 Following the publication of the Ofsted Inspection report an Ofsted 
Improvement Plan was developed and was grouped into four themes, 
including The Strengthening Political and Management Oversight 
theme.  Benchmarking was undertaken, and as a result changes were 
made to political oversight arrangements, including the functions, 
membership, governance and administration of the Corporate Parenting 
Panel.  Work has also been undertaken to raise the profile of the 
Corporate Parenting Panel’s work. 

9 Further work has been done following the approval of changes to the 
constitution, and terms of reference for the Corporate Parenting Panel 
were agreed, which incorporates all aspects of the constitutional 
changes.  The terms of reference include the functions described in the 
Constitution with the responsibilities of the Corporate Parenting Panel in 
relation to each of the functions clearly set out. 

10 The terms of reference make specific reference that the Corporate 
Parenting Panel will prepare and provide an annual report that will be 
shared with Council, Cabinet and Scrutiny.  

Development of the Annual Report 

11 To ensure the voice of the child is reflected in the work of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel, it was agreed that young people from the Children in 
Care Council, supported by officers from Transformation and 
Partnerships, would develop the Corporate Parenting Panel’s Annual 
Report for 2017-18. 

12 The young people worked on the design, content and language of the 
Annual Report to ensure it was easy to read and understand. 

13 The Annual Report was well received, and a decision was made to 
follow a similar process for the development of the Annual Report for 
2018-19. 

14 To ensure we continue to raise the profile of the Corporate Parenting 
Panel, the Durham County Council Communications and Marketing 

Page 10



Team have been involved in the development of the 2018-19 Annual 
Report to ensure it follows a more corporate format, whilst ensuring it 
uses language and design which is also appealing to young people. 

15 The Annual Report will hold a more prominent position on the Durham 
County Council website, and will again be hosted on the Investing in 
Children Website, and the Children in Care Council website. 

16 The Annual Report includes information on: 

(a) What a Corporate Parent is 

(b) The role of the Corporate Parenting Panel 

(c) The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference 

(d) Key performance data 

(e) Achievements 

(f) Evidencing the changes made as a result of consultation with 
young people ‘You Said – We Did’ 

(g) The Corporate Parenting Panel’s priorities for 2019/20 

Terms of Reference 

17 The five functions of the Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of 
Reference, which were agreed by the Panel at the meeting on 14 
December 2018 are as follows: 

• Ensure that the Council acts as a good corporate parent to children and 
young people in care and care leavers including: 

o Children and Young People in residential care 
o Children and Young People in foster care 
o Children and Young People placed for adoption 
o Children and Young People placed at home under Care Planning, 

Placement and Case Review Regulations 
o Young People who are living in supported lodgings 
o Young People in Secure services  
o Young People in custody. 

 

• To engage and listen to the views of children, young people and their 
carers for whom the Council is the parent. 
 

• To work in partnership with other statutory agencies to drive forward 
improvements in care. 
 

Page 11



• To act as the governing body for the Virtual School for looked after 
children and young people.   
 

• To act as the governing body for Aycliffe Secure Services, monitoring and 
ensuring the quality of secure accommodation.  

 

Next Steps 

18 Following agreement of the Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report, it 
will follow the sign off process as outlined below: 
 
(a) Cabinet: 11 September 2019 

(b) Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
14 October 2019 

(c) Council: 23 October 2019 

Conclusion 

19 The Corporate Parenting Panel are recommended to agree the Annual 
Report on 19 July 2019. 

Contact: Karen Robb 
Jayne Watson 

Tel:  03000 265759 

Tel:  03000 268371 
   

  

Page 12



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Legal Implications 
The Corporate Parenting Panel’s role is to lead on ensuring the corporate 
parenting responsibilities of the Council are being met in line with the duties 
under the Children Act 1989.  
 
Section 22 of the Children Act 1989 sets out the general duty of the local 
authority in relation to children looked after by them, to safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of these children, ensuring effective, individualised 
support and access to services.  
 
Finance 
There are cost implications for design and print services, however the 
Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report will primarily be shared by email, 
and will be hosted on the Children in Care Council, Investing in Children and 
Durham County Council websites to minimise printing and distribution costs. 
 
Consultation 
Young people from the Children in Care Council have been involved in the 
development of the Annual Report.   
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
Looked After Services are available to all children and young people in line 
with legal duties.  
 
Human Rights 
Children and young people have been central to the development of the 
Annual Report to ensure that their voices are heard.  
 
Crime and Disorder 
There are no crime and disorder implications. 

 
Staffing 
There are no staffing implications. 

 
Accommodation 
There are no accommodation implications. 
 
Risk 
There are no risk implications. 
 
Procurement 
There are no procurement implications.  

Page 13



Appendix 2:  Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2018-19 

 

Attached as a separate document 

 

Page 14



Corporate Parenting Panel

Annual Report 
April 2018 - March 2019

County Durham

Page 15



Message from the Chair!

What is a 
Corporate Parent

The Role of the Corporate Parenting Panel

If a young person can’t stay 
at home safely, it is up to the 
local authority to provide the 
care, support and security 
that they need. 

This isn’t just up to the 
Corporate Parenting Panel, 
everyone should be looking 
out for our children and 
young people, and every 
councillor and council 
employee has a role to play 
as the eyes and ears of the 
community.

Being a corporate parent 
means doing whatever we 
can to support young 
people in our care and care 
leavers, to help them to 
achieve their full potential 
and to have the best 
possible outcomes, 
including:

3 Progress in school

3 Education, Employment 
and training 
opportunities 

3 Good Physical and 
Mental wellbeing

3 Suitable accommodation

3 Access to services and 
support

3 Preparation for leaving 
care and living 
independently.

I am pleased to present the second Annual Report of the 
Corporate Parenting Panel, and to be able to report the progress 
that we have made over the last year. 

I would like to thank everyone for their hard work and commitment 
over the past year to improving outcomes for our young people. I 
look forward to seeing more positive changes as we continue our 
work into 2019/20.

In addition, I would like to thank the young people themselves for 
being part of the Corporate Parenting Panel, helping us to move 
forward and develop.

Councillor Peter Brookes

The Corporate Parenting Panel is a group that is part of the 
council, which is called a committee. It has 21 councillors as well 
as council officers. There are also 10 other members, including 
school representatives and a young people’s representative to 
make sure there is a broad range of experience and knowledge 
and that the voice of children and young people is heard.

Corporate parents have responsibility to act for the children and 
young people in our care as a parent would for their own child and 
to ask:

 

 If I were that 
child would it 

have been 
good enough 

for me?
How could 
I make it 

even 
better?

If this were my 
child would it 

be good 
enough for 

them?

2

Page 16



In 2016 Terry Collins introduced ‘an opportunity for every 
care leaver’ encouraging our care leavers to join Durham 
County Council ‘the family firm’. As part of this initiative a 
number of opportunities have been brought in to offer work 
experience, internships and apprenticeships to care 
leavers’ champion across a number of departments within 
the council.

In 2018, Terry asked all service areas to identify a ‘Care 
Leavers’ Champion’ to further support this initiative and to 
help develop the Local Offer for Care Leavers. 

This initiative will ensure we do as much as we can to 
assist our young people who are leaving care, to become 
the most successful adults that they can be.

Terry also hosts a bi-monthly meeting providing an 
opportunity for young people to raise any issues directly 
with him.

3

Corporate Parenting Panel responsibilities

Where are children in 
care?
Children and young people 
can be in care in a range of 
settings, including foster 
care, children’s homes and 
secure homes – the council is 
corporate parent to all of 
them.

Why are children in 
care?
Young people are looked 
after for a variety of reasons 
including neglect and abuse. 
They could also be in care if 
their parents are unable to 
look after them because of 
their own complex health 
needs or behaviours. Some 
young people have no 
parents to care for them, or 
they could be 
unaccompanied asylum 
seekers.

Terry Collins    
(Chief Executive Officer) 

meets with looked 
after young people 

regularly

“

”

1.  Make sure the council acts as a good corporate parent to 
children and young people in care and care leavers, including:

l Young people in residential care

l Children and young people in foster care

l Children placed for adoption

l Children placed at home under Care Planning. Placement and 
Case Review regulations

l Young people who are living in supported lodgings

l Young people in secure homes

l Young people in custody 

2. Engage and listen to the views of children, young people and 
their carers.

3. Work in partnership with other agencies to make improvements 
for our children and young people in care. 

4. Oversee the Virtual School for looked after children and young 
people.

 A sub group has been established to lead on this work. 

5. Oversee Aycliffe Secure Services
 A sub group has been established to lead on this work.

 

Care Leavers’ Champions

Page 17



Updates against 2018/19 priorities

4

What we said we would focus on Young people’s comments
Continue to improve review 
meetings for looked after children 
and young people

“I chair my own reviews”
“I talked to my own reviewing officer”
“I made my own smiley face form up”

Make sure more children and 
young people have care plans that 
they really understand

“Mine is really easy to understand, but it’s a bit babyish”

Improve the experience of children 
and young people when coming 
into care

“We get foster carer profiles before we go into the placement”
“There is member information available in the homes”
“Young people designed a leaflet that’s given to all young people”

Create more job opportunities for 
care leavers

“There’s apprenticeships now”
“looked after children get guaranteed interviews”

Support our care leavers with 
council tax costs if they move out of 
county

“Young people are supported on an individual basis around 
their eligibility, to get the best possible outcomes”

Raising the profile of looked after 
children/care leavers in all 
departments of the council to 
ensure they have a voice in 
influencing any decisions that are 
being made

Fostering Panel representation
Training for Fostering Panel members 
Corporate Parenting Panel representation
Attendance at Health and Wellbeing Board meeting
Attendance at Children and Families Partnership meetings
Looking at having Children and Families Partnership representation
Head of Service/Extended Management Team training delivered 
by young people
Children’s Services training delivered by young people
Training on looked after children/care leavers in universities 
training delivered by young people
Care Leavers Champions in each service directorate
Training ‘life as a looked after child’

Encourage more people to be 
foster carers by spreading the word 
of how great and rewarding it is

“Lots of info on this, on buses and posters all over”

Share positive stories of looked 
after children in the media

“This has improved a bit but more needs to be done”
“Tracey Beaker was negative portrayal of looked after 
children”

Re-launch of the council’s Promise 
to Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers

“We have done this”
 

Page 18



5

Children in Care Council (CiCC)

l Young people are part of the fostering panel 
to make sure their views are fed in.

l Survey developed for all looked after children 
to get a whole range of views so that this 
feeds into service developments.

l New care plans have been designed 
following feedback from young people, that 
are now easier to understand.

l Supervised contact rooms have had ‘make 
overs’ as young people felt these rooms were 
not nice places to spend time. The young 
people have been involved in redesigning the 
rooms and ordering the new furnishings.

l Councillor information is now hosted on the 
CiCC website so that young people can 
easily access this 

 http://www.durhamcicc.co.uk
 your-dcc-councillors.html 

l Comments boxes are in children’s homes to 
enable young people to feed into the Reg 44 
inspection if it takes place when they are out, 
or if they do not wish to talk to the inspector.

l Information on the Reg 44 inspector and the 
elected member allocated to each home are 
displayed in each home so the young people 
know who is visiting. The CiCC has produced 
guidance for this.

l A leaflet has been developed to give young 
people information they might need when 
they are becoming looked after.

“We wanted to make sure that anyone coming 
into care, knows what to expect and who will be 
working with them”
“It makes you understand what life in care is 
going to be about! I like the guide a lot!”
l Presentations and training have been 

delivered by young people at Extended 
Management Team and Children and Young 
People’s Services Management Team in July 
2018 to enable them to share their 
experiences of the looked after system and 
help practitioners to think about how they can 
improve their practice.

“It’s good to do the training to let them know 
what it’s like to be in our shoes”
l Young people have delivered training to 

fostering panel members to share their 
thoughts and experiences to improve things 
for young people coming into care.  

l IIC revised the council’s complaints 
procedure to ensure it is fit for purpose and 
easy for young people to access. The new 
leaflet is hosted on the CiCC website so that 
it is accessible for young people. 

l In 2018-2019, two complaints (1.5%) were 
received directly from a child or young 
person, compared with none the previous 
year. The number of complaints made by 
children or young people through an 
advocate decreased to 3.6% in 2018-19 
compared with 6.4% in 2017-2018. 

The CiCC is a group for children and young people who are looked after in County 
Durham, and is supported by Investing in Children. The CiCC members meet 
monthly to talk about issues which are important to them, highlight what works and 
share stories of the support they have received. This forum is well established, with 
senior managers and elected members who are on the Corporate Parenting Panel, 
managers from the independent reviewing officer services, Virtual School staff, 
fostering services staff, and looked after children service staff regularly attending 
CiCC meetings.

‘If you are not already a member of the CiCC – what are you waiting for . . . . .?’

What difference have we made . . . 

continued on the next page

Page 19



Care Leavers Challenge
Could you live on £57.90 a week?

Care leavers, through the Children in Care Council, asked for 
the members of the Corporate Parenting Panel to undertake 
the ‘Care Leavers Challenge’ by living off a care leaver’s 
budget for a week to highlight the difficulties young people face 
in their day to day lives.

Cllr Beaty Bainbridge took part in the 2018 challenge and felt 
that it was a ‘real eye opener’. The main challenge she faced 
was cooking on a budget, even with all of her experience from 
52 years of marriage and cooking for her own family.

Cllr Bainbridge found that because of the limited budget, she 
had to plan ahead and always needed to make sensible 
choices around what to buy, and how to cook it to stretch the 
food out to make as many meals as possible. She was 
surprised just how little food she could afford and visited the 
food bank to source extra supplies.

Cllr Bainbridge was concerned that if young people do not 
have some of the life skills she has around cooking and 
housekeeping, then they would have a limited variety of 
healthy meals, which she felt would lead to a poor diet overall. 
This could lead to additional health issues including stress and 
poorer mental health. 

Cllr Bainbridge felt that without cooking skills and additional 
support from food banks, the young people would eat very 
little.

To support our care leavers we are looking to develop a young 
person friendly ‘care leavers hub’ where young people will 
have ownership of the space and can ‘drop in’.

It is expected that the hub will offer sessions for young people 
with support staff, including CAMHS, Youth Offending Service, 
The Full Circle etc. It will also run training courses for care 
leavers, including cooking and life skills. 

l Placement risk assessment 
forms that foster carers get 
before agreeing to the 
placement have been 
revised after young people 
felt the information contained 
in them could be very 
negative. The information is 
more balanced now and 
includes lots of positive 
information as well. This has 
helped to identify good 
placements for children 
where their needs can be 
met.

l Improvements have been 
made to the Personal 
Education Plan (PEP) forms, 
following feedback and 
recommendations from 
children and young people.

l More opportunities have 
been created for care leaver 
apprenticeships following 
regular meetings with the 
council’s Chief Executive.

l  Young people have reviewed 
and updated the council’s 
Promise to Looked After 
Children and Young People.

l Foster carers have been 
asked to produce profiles 
about themselves and their 
homes following feedback 
from children and young 
people, wanting to improve 
and be more prepared when 
moving home.

l Young people continue to 
deliver foster preparation 
training to potential foster 
carers as part of their 
assessment every two 
months.

What a difference we have made
continued from page 5

6

Page 20



Local Offer for Care Leavers

7

We’ve produced our Local Offer for Care Leavers to give care leavers a clear idea of what 
services we provide and what can be expected from us, including:

l Your rights
l Stay safe
l Someone to talk to
l Young Person’s Advisor
l Social Worker
l Pathway Plan
l Reviews
l CiCC

Support Housing
l Your options after leaving 

care
l Living on your own
l Going to university
l Money to set up a home
l Care leavers and Council 

Tax
l Help to avoid becoming 

homeless

l Health
l Emotional 

wellbeing
l Getting involved
l Relationships 

Money
l Help with money
l Help with Universal 

Credits and Benefits
l Welfare Rights
l Credit Unions, financial 

help and debt advice

Education, 
Employment & Training

Looking after
yourself

l School holidays and work 
experience

l Going to sixth form or 
college

l Going to university
l Learning to drive
l Help to get a job
l Help to get an 

apprenticeship or 
traineeship

Feedback from the young people is that 
they do not like how the Local Offer for 
Care Leavers is hosted on the council’s 
website, as it is hard to find and is not 
young people friendly. In response, we are 
working to ensure the information is as 
accessible as possible to children and 
young people.

Page 21



Information about our care leavers 
for 2017-2018

 
82% of our care leavers aged 17-18 were in 
education, employment and training (EET), in 
comparison to the England average of 64% and the 
statistical neighbour rates of 64%. 

59% of our care leavers aged 19-21 were in 
education, employment and training (EET), in 
comparison to the England average of 51% and the 
statistical neighbour rates of 58%. 

96% of our care leavers aged 17-18 were in suitable 
accommodation, above the national rate of 84% and 
above our statistical neighbour rates of 89%. 
 
87% of our care leavers aged 19-21 were in suitable 
accommodation, above the national rate of 84% but 
below our statistical neighbour rates of 89%. 

There was a 17% improvement in English for grade 4+ 
and 10% improvement at grade 5+. In 2017 we had 
identified that too few of our looked after children 
achieved good passes (5+) in English, maths and at the 
Basics Measure and therefore we targeted this to 
improve outcomes.

8

Cllr Peter Brookes 
and Cllr Olwyn Gunn 

(Portfolio Holder for Children 
and Young People’s Services) 

have offered to let 
me to shadow 

their work

“

”

Page 22



9

Key performance

 Karen Robb 
(Strategic Manager Looked After 

Children and Permanence) 

offered to let young 
people shadow her 

work

“

”

We want as many of our young people as possible to be 
cared for in County Durham or nearby. 

l Latest data shows that 8% at 28 December 2018 of our young 
people were placed over 20 miles away (outside of County 
Durham)

  We want to have as many of our looked after children and 
young people as possible in foster care, rather than in 
other types of accomodation

l Latest data shows that at 29 March 2019 79% of our young 
people were placed in foster care (in house 49%, friends & 
family 16%, IFA 14%)

  Placement stability for children is really important, as it 
helps with school attainment, friendships and emotional 
wellbeing. 

l Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019 there were 6.9% of 
our looked after children with three or more placements during 
the year 

l Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019, 86.6% of our looked 
after children (aged under 16) were living in the same 
placement for at least two years 

  Children and young people tell us that having the same 
social worker can be really important and helps them to 
build good relationships

l Latest data shows that at December 2018, 22% of our children 
had two or more social worker changes in the previous 12 
months. This has decreased from 26% in 2017/18.

  The health of our children and young people is very 
important. 

l Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019 91.4% of our young 
people had received the required number of health 
assessments 

  Keeping in touch with our care leavers and ensuring they 
are supported is a priority:

l Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019 we were in touch with 
100% of 17-18 year old care leavers and 95% of 19-21 year old 
care leavers

  It is important that our care leavers have somewhere 
suitable to live:

l Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019 96% of our 17-18 year 
old care leavers, and 94% of our 19-21 year old care leavers 
live in suitable accommodation

  Lots of work is taking place to ensure our care leavers are 
in employment, education or training (EET).

l Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019 64% of our 17-18 year 
old care leavers and 54% of our 19-21 year old care leavers are 
in EET

 

 

Page 23



Celebrations of young people and carers
Care Day 2019

‘Ric Flo’, was a special guest at the event. Ric is a care experienced person who uses his creative 
lifework to share with the world his experience of growing up in care and campaigning for better rights 
and understanding. Ric works as a performer and trains social work professionals within the world of 
fostering. He performed some of his work and gave an inspirational talk at the event. 

Local young people attended the event to share their experiences of life in care in Durham.

The third annual Exceptional People in Care 
(EPIC) awards ceremony was held during 
National Care Leavers Week in November.

Winners included: 
18 year old Rachel Calder for education 
achievements, 
19 year old Connie Jones for volunteering, and 17 
year old Andrew Rochester who won the Investing 
in Children award for his increased confidence 
and the support he gives to others.

Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Durham’s Cabinet 
member for children and young people’s 
services, said “It is always great to hear stories of 
these young people building on the support we give 
them to make successes of their lives and it was 
humbling to meet some of them at the awards.”

LAC Epic Awards

  

#IiCCareDay19 
Durham CiCC celebrated life in 
care. This year the message 
was 

“Proud To Be Me – 
Celebrate Living in Care!”

10

Page 24



11

Our annual celebration of the outstanding 
commitment of our foster carers was another 
well attended event. 

Held in March, foster carers, their foster children and their 
own children are welcomed each year as we mark 
long-service, celebrate achievement and hear some very 
special stories.
 
Among those to be honoured were Debbie and John Hinds 
from Durham, who have cared for more than 60 children in 
their 25 years fostering with us. Three families also 
received special recognition for going the extra mile in 
caring for children and young people. A further six sons 
and daughters of foster carers were given awards for the 
part they have played in welcoming children into their 
family and home.

Investing in Children Membership Award

Foster Carer Annual Awards

 

This award gives organisations national recognition for their good practice and active inclusion of 
children and young people in dialogue leading to change. 

To achieve membership, organisations have to demonstrate the ways they listen to children and 
young people and the changes made. Children and young people involved in the service have to 
agree and all membership reports are read and approved by children and young people involved in 
the process.

All of Durham County Council’s looked after children’s services have achieved or are working towards 
achieving the Investing in Children Membership Award™.

“We as children and young people are reassured when we visit somewhere and see an 
Investing in Children certificate. We know there will be someone there who is actually listening 
to you and you will be able to put forward ideas” 
Quote from a young person involved in the process.

Page 25



Priorities for 
2019/20

Achievements

l Young people want to be 
involved in completing 
placement risk 
assessment forms, and to 
have sight of these forms 
before they are submitted

l Review Freedom Cards to 
see if additional offers and 
discounts can be included

l Work with school settings 
so that they better 
understand the needs of 
looked after children

l Subsidised transport costs 
for care leavers

l Free leisure activities for 
care leavers 

l Ringfenced apprenticeship 
positions within Durham 
County Council for care 
leavers 

l Opening a children’s home 
at Aycliffe Secure Centre 
to improve the transition 
from secure 
accommodation into the 
community. 

3 Freedom Cards are available which provide discounted 
opportunities to young people to offer opportunities to 
participate in social activities with their peers, and alleviate 
social isolation. Further work is underway to develop this offer 
after recent feedback from young people

3 The Drive Project provides funding for driving lessons, a theory 
and practical test for looked after young people 17+ and care 
leavers who are the responsibility of the council.  

3 46 young people were part of the scheme this year. 10 young 
people passed their theory test and six young people passed 
their practical test.

3 Money has been allocated to improve the facilities where 
children spend time with their families, across the county. Young 
people are involved in the project to ensure the rooms are nice 
places for them to spend time.

The makeovers to date have been a success, and 
feedback from young people has been positive 

“Fab room” 
“Love having our own room”    
“we like being able to choose 
our own toys”
“lots of toys and love the 
playdough!”     
“it’s nice and calm in here”

We are hoping to make over more 
rooms throughout the year.

3 The winter fuel allowance payments are now made to our 
care leavers.

3 We are delighted to have welcomed a care leaver into our 
Children and Young People’s Services team.

Achievements

Helen Fergusson 
(Head of Children’s Social Care) 

helped me loads 
with my social work 

placement

“

”

12

Page 26



13

3 Care Leavers Champions are in all service areas within Durham 
County Council

3 DCC promise launched officially Friday 26th October 2018. 
Young People from CiCC have been involved in supporting the 
council with the creation of the promise and regularly review it. 

3  Following 150 family group conferences, 140 children and 
young people remained in their family/living arrangements with 
support, and did not become looked after.

3 Children and young people are working on making films that will 
explain to other young people what family group conferencing 
is, and what to expect.

3 The Supporting Solutions Service worked with 107 young 
people on the edge of care, and as a result of offering crisis and 
intensive interventions, 100 young people remained in their 
family/living arrangements.

3 Local Offer for Care Leavers has been developed and published

3 Improved foster carer recruitment and retention figures 

3  In 2017-2018 we took 321 enquiries from potential foster carers  
and successfully approved 26 new carers.

3  Young People from the CiCC delivered training to Durham 
County Council’s extended management team to raise the 
profile of looked after children and care leavers. This was to 
ensure plans are in place to hear their voice and use this to 
influence any decisions that are being made..

“If you have a room and a big heart you can be a foster carer. 
Even if you just care for one child you can make such a huge 
difference to their life.”
Comment from our foster carers

“Thank you for the training sessions over the last few weeks, 
we found them very informative and they have definitely 
opened our eyes to the world of fostering. If anything it has 
made us more determined to do it!”
Someone on our training programme

1)  To treat you with respect and to remember that everyone is different.   

2)		 To	help	find
	best	home	we	can	for

	you.		It	will	
be	where	yo

u	feel	safe, 

  cared about and treated well.  

3)  To help you stay in touch with family and friends if it is ok to do so.  

4)  To listen carefully to you and try to act on what you say.  

 
5)  That your social worker will get to know you well.  

  They will keep in touch with you and listen to what you say. 

6)  To really listen to things you would like to change about being looked after.  

7)  To be honest and share any information or changes with you. 

8)		 To	involve	y
ou	in	any	de

cisions,	plan
s	or	change

s	that	affect
	you	or	your

	future.	 

9)  To give you any help or support that you need.  

10)	 To	help
	you	be	the	

best	that	yo
u	can	be	at	

school,	coll
ege,	training

	and	work.	 

11) To give you help and support when needed to move from care to adult life.  

 
12) To work together and support you during every change in your life.

 
For example moving placement or leaving care. 

Our Promise

To Looked After Children and Young People

Contact: Tel: 0191 307 7030    www.investinginchildren.net 

Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services  - contact number 03000 266 593

Head of Children’s Social Care - contact number 03000 265 759

43474

Page 27



l On average more Durham looked after 
children achieved expected standards in their 
KS2 SATS in writing and maths than children 
looked after across the country.

l Durham looked after children made better 
progress between KS1 and KS2 in maths and 
writing than all other children in Durham 
schools. 

l At KS4 Durham looked after children achieved 
much higher GCSE results in English and 
made better progress across all subjects than 
looked after children nationally.

l Durham looked after children have much 
higher school attendance than all other 
Durham children. 

l Young people have been involved in meeting 
with the Virtual School team and redesigning 
Personal Education Plans (PEPs) for primary 
and secondary school pupils.

l Work with the Music service and Virtual School 
has taken place to engage young people who 
are looked after children or care leavers who 
are not engaging with the CiCC.  

l At Durham Virtual School we have been 
training schools to help them understand the 
impact of attachment and early trauma so that 
they can understand and support the needs of 
our looked after children. 

l Curious Kids was launched in February 2019. 
All Durham looked after children in years 2 - 6 
are receiving books and activities through the 
post to help to encourage a love of reading. 
Foster carers attended some training to help 
develop reading skills, Children chose the 
name Curious Kids and the books are 
commissioned by the Virtual School through 
Durham Learning Resources. We are looking 
at how to provide books for younger and older 
children too.

Virtual School

14

“Dear Curious Kids I really 
enjoyed opening this parcel. 
When will I get my next 
parcel?” “Happy and excited! 

p.s. my sister Libby , 
aged 13, wants one! 

She is jealous!”

“Yes, a letter 
for me”

When asked to “Choose your own words or draw a picture to show how you felt when you 
opened your first Curious Kids parcel” these were some of the responses we got: 

Page 28



15

Residential services for children and young people 
We offer residential services for children and young people, giving support and care when 
they cannot live at home or when they need a short break away from their family or carers. 

We have nine children’s homes in County Durham and offer a range of different services, 
including:
l  a therapeutic home for children under 12 years
l  a provision which can offer respite for young people where families are at risk of  

breakdown
l  a short-break resource for children who have a disability
l  a number of well-established medium to long term children’s homes.

“it was my destiny to come to …… all the staff challenge me in a way that I know 

they want the very best for me. My behaviour is now the best it’s ever been .”

“They make the house a home to me and it makes 

the staff feel more like friends and family.”

“the staff aren’t like staff, they are like my family”

“I had input with the décor of the living room.”

“This is a really good home.”

“I am always asked if I want to be involved in things.”

“ I don’t feel like a kid in care, because the staff treat me like their own.”

Page 29



16

Aycliffe Secure Centre
l Analysis of the new parental survey was 

encouraging with 92.5% of parents answering 
‘Great or Good’ when asked ‘How well do 
you think Aycliffe Secure Centre are 
looking after your child?’

 “Staff are always very friendly informative and 
helpful. I’m glad my son is in such good care.”

  “Staff appear genuinely caring and sensitive to 
my child’s needs – they focus on the positives and 
this is very reassuring for me as a parent.”

l 100% of parents/carers stated that they had 
noticed positive changes in their child since 
coming to Aycliffe

 “Calmer and more respect”
  “Staff are mostly bringing out the good in my son 

and he is looking better physically for being here.”
l Over the last 12 months Aycliffe Secure Centre 

has appointed 50 new workers to further 
increase the level and quality of support 
offered to our young people. 

l Young people have developed a DVD 
featuring young people who were new to the 
centre. They told their story of admission and 
tried to dispel myths about secure 
accommodation. This was largely unedited, so 
the young people got ‘the real story’. The film 
has been positively received, and it has helped 
to ease the worries of young people coming 
into the centre for the first time.

l Young people have been involved in 
recruitment for staff at all levels within the 
centre, including residential workers and 
senior managers.

l Young people have hosted some important 
visitors including the council’s corporate 
director of children and young people’s 
services Margaret Whellans, local politicians 
including Councillor Olwyn Gunn and MP Phil 
Wilson, NHS England researchers, youth 
custody monitors and Ofsted inspectors. On all 
occasions the engagement from the young 
people has been exemplary and it has helped 
young people feel part of the centre and to feel 
valued for their positive contribution.

l Myspace meetings continue to be an important 
forum in the centre, to gathering views of 
young people. Feedback received from these 
forums supports decision making and ensures 
that views of young people are key in driving 
change/improvements.

l Young people and staff took part in a wide and 
varied activity programme including a rickshaw 
challenge and tug of war and have raised 
money for Children in Need and Comic Relief 
throughout the year. 

l We continue to increase sporting and leisure 
options to further improve the health and 
wellbeing of our young people. Recent 
additions to the activity programme have 
included dance, basketball, personal training, 
boot camp and trampolining sessions.

l The third annual BBQ in summer 2018 was a 
great success, offering parents/carers/workers 
the opportunity to spend time in a relaxed way 
with the young people, enjoying good food, 
good music and good dancing.

l We also had our annual firework display in 
November with music and refreshments going 
down well - events such as these really bring 
the Aycliffe family together.

Education
l Between January to July 2018, 75% of pupils 

made one or more levels of progress in 
English, and this year achieved 26 Entry 
Level, 11 Level 1, and 2 Level 2 qualifications 
in Functional Skills.

l In maths, 71% of pupils made one or more 
levels of progress and achieved 30 Entry 
Level, and 8 Level 1 Functional Skills 
qualifications. For this academic year to date, 
the combined totals for English and maths 
have increased to 88%.

l Our engagement with local and national 
industry has meant that our young people had 
the opportunity to meet with employers from a 
range of areas including aviation, finance, 
business/administration, retail, health and 
social care, as well as further education 
colleges and apprenticeship providers. Eight of 
our leavers went directly onto college 
placements to study NVQ courses in a range 
of subjects. Three young people successfully 
secured apprenticeships or traineeships for 
when they left us.

Page 30



17

l In March we were inspected by an external 
verifier from our principal exam board, 
Edexcel, whose role is to review our maths 
and English accreditation. The report stated 
that:

l “The centre’s accredited education programmes 
have some of the best results in the secure estate.”

 

“I feel that this place has supported me and made me 
feel part of a family and I’m so happy!”

“My case manager has sorted loads of stuff for me 
and she has always told me the truth. No matter how 
busy she was she always had time to listen to me.”

 

“I would love for all young people who have to come 
into custody to receive the level of care X received at 
Aycliffe”

“X was treated first and foremost as a child and not 
as an ‘offender’. Staff made the effort to get to know 
him, care about him and guide him to make the right 
choices”

“It was clear to see that all of the staff involved in X’s 
care did genuinely care for him and went out of their 
way to make sure he felt supported”

“X has developed the skills to become a mature and 
responsible young person who has with the help of 
staff reflected on his life choices when in the 
community”

 

To ensure the council provides the best 
possible outcomes for the children and young 
people we look after, the Corporate Parenting 
Panel has requested presentations from 
various sources, to make sure they have a 
good overview of the range of services 
provided. This has included feedback from:

l Foster carers

l Adoptive families

l The Full Circle therapeutic support

l Services for looked after children with a 
disability

l The Virtual School

l Young people’s views on mental health

Work of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel

What our Youth Offending team said

What our young people said

47120 CYPS

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Report of the 
Fostering Service 2018-19

July 2019

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 9



Outline

•Context of the Fostering Service

•Progress against key  Priorities

•Priorities for 2019-20

P
age 34



Context of the Fostering Service – Looked 
After Children Numbers

443
508 528

658 638 606 619
680

810 795
833

Number of LAC from 2009 - 2019

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Durham County Council has seen a 5% rise in the overall numbers of Children Looked After during 2018-
19, (795 to 833* CLA) as at 31st March 2019*.  Despite these challenges, the fostering service has been 
able to maximise the use of our in house foster carers with an overall increase of 408 children placed, 
compared with 400 in 2017-18; the number of children placed with Independent Foster Carer has 
reduced to 120, compared with 132 the previous year.P

age 35



Context of the Fostering Service – How we are 
Looking After Our Children

Placement Type Total Number

2017/18
% of LAC Population
2017/18

Total Number
2018/19 

% of LAC Population
2018/19

DCC Foster Care 400 51% 408 49%

Friends and Family 129 16% 137 16%

IFA 132 17% 120 14%

Placed with Parents 33 4% 64 8%

DCC Residential 32 4% 32 4%

External Residential 26 3% 28 3%

Placed for Adoption 25 3% 26 3%

Independent Living 16 2% 23 3%

Secure 2 0% 1 0%

P
age 36



Key Priorities
The following key priorities were identified in the previous years 
annual report as a key focus for 2018-19

1. Recruitment of Foster Carers
2. Retention of Foster Carers
3. Permanence Planning for Children in foster care
4. Placement Stability

P
age 37



Recruitment of Foster Carers

• The service recruited 26 mainstream foster carer households during 
2018-19.  This is 4 carer households below our set target of 30, 
moreover this is a reduction of 2 carer households compared with the 
previous year.

• The number of enquiries had also reduced in comparison to the 
previous year; with only 208 enquiries for April to December 2018, 
compared to 259 the previous year.  Following an analysis of our 
recruitment activity, our marketing strategy was amended over the 
course of the year resulting in the number of enquiries improving 
significantly (113) between January and March 2019. Recruitment 
activity will be closely monitored and remains a priority in our 2019-
20 plan. 

P
age 38



Retention of Foster Carers

• Despite a reduction in recruitment of carers the overall foster carer population has grown over the past year due to a decrease in 
the number of foster carer de-registrations.  

• In total 9 mainstream foster carer households de-registered in 2018-19, which is a significant reduction when compared to 
previous years.  

• All carers who de-register from the service are invited to attend the fostering panel so reasons for de-registration can be fully 
understood and to inform future service development.

• The service has further developed our existing foster carer support groups and improved overall consultation and liaison with our 
carers regarding service development, with the strengthening of the training available to carers this has supported the retention of 
carers. 

Foster Carers 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Number De-registered 14 15 17 20 23 9

% of Total Number of Foster Carers 6.3 6.6 7.2 8.4 9.4 3.5

P
age 39



Permanence Planning

• The service has maintained focus on progressing permanence plans for 
children and reducing delay through effective and early identification; we 
also have a service wide approach to family finding and matching which 
has led to an improvement in our performance for permanence planning 
seeing the number of children without a permanent placement identified 
reducing to 9, compared to 49 the previous year.  Currently there are 37 
children in permanent placements awaiting a formal match, plans are in 
place to progress these over the coming year.

P
age 40



Placement Stability
• To improve our performance regarding placement stability the service have 

developed a placement stability strategy and action plan, this has been 
implemented over the past year. Current performance for placement stability has 
improved with now 7% of children having experienced 3 or more placement 
moves (59 children) compared with 8.3% (66 children) the previous year.  The aim 
is to build upon this progress and reduce this number further over the coming 
year.

Performance Indicator 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Percentage of children looked 

after with 3 or more placements
[number of children shown in 

brackets]

12.9%

[78 of 606]

6.5%

[40 of 619]

4.4%

[30 of 678]
6.1%               [50 of 

814]

8.3%                         [66 

of 734]

7.02%

[59 of 839]

P
age 41



Priorities for 2019-20
• Recruitment and Retention of good quality Foster Carers to enable placement 

choice for children – In accordance with the Council’s sufficiency duty the target 
for foster carer recruitment for 2019-20 is to recruit 25-30 new foster carer 
households.

• Targeted recruitment for teenage carers and carers for siblings.

• Review capacity of existing foster carer families to maximise potential of foster 
carers’ capacity, including via exploration of accommodation options for 
approved foster carers.

• Review of Residential service to support greater flexibility of placement options 
and support more effective matching of Young People with complex needs, 
providing wrap around support for carers and young people

• Embedding Signs of Safety across the Fostering Service 

P
age 42



Priorities for 2019-20 continued
• Embedding Liquid Logic –much work was undertaken to implement the new case 

management system over the past year, and the focus in the coming year will be on 
embedding the system and linking the increased performance management capabilities 
with achieving more timely and positive outcomes for children and young people

• Change to Regulation 24 / Special Guardianship processes – the focus of this 
development will be to improve experiences and reduce drift and delay for children, 
young people and their carers. The fostering service will take lead responsibility for the 
completion of initial viability assessments and special guardianship reports.

• Continued focus on the voice of the child – a revised audit tool to ensure the prevalence 
of the voice of the child in foster carers records has been developed and will be 
implemented

• Placement Stability – building upon the improvement in performance following the 
placement stability strategy ongoing focus will be kept upon the fostering service’s role in 
ensuring placement stability for children and young people in the coming year

P
age 43



Any Questions ?

P
age 44



Corporate Parenting Panel

DISCUSSION ITEM

19 July 2019

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 10



– What do you see as the strengths of Durham County 

Council Fostering Service?

• How can CPP share these messages with a wider 

audience?

– What barriers do foster carers experience in the role? 

• What could the CPP could do to support or 

alleviate this?

– In the last year how have you helped promote 

fostering?

P
age 46



Document is Restricted

Page 47

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 28 June 2019
	8 Corporate Parenting Annual Report 2018-19 - Report of Councillor P Brookes, Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel
	Item 8 - FINAL Corporate Parenting Annual Report_

	9 Foster Care Update - Presentation by Strategic Manager
	10 Foster Care Discussion
	13 Regulation 44 Visits: Summary Report - Joint Report of Head of Children's Social Care and Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children

